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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (it known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Old Barracks (or Trenton Barracks), built in 1758-59, is a large 
two-and-one-half story U-shaped, fieldstone building with a slate- 
covered gable roof and a narrow two-story wood balcony extending around 
its .inner (eastern) side. Designed to house 300 soldiers, the shorter 
north and south arms are each 58 feet long and 20 feet wide, the 
long connecting arm is 136 feet long and 20 feet wide. Attached to 
the eastern end of the northern arm is a two-and-one-half story 
over elevated-basement Georgian stone house with gable roof and a wide 
end chimney at either end. The eastern gable is treated as a pediment; 
the structure is 39 feet or five-bays wide and 28 feet or two-bays 
deep. This house has two rooms on the first floor and a single large 
room utilized as an armory, on the second.

Forty feet, or about one-third, of the northern end of the long con­ 
necting arm was reconstructed accurately in 1917 to replace the missing 
portion that has been demolished in 1813 to open up a way for a street. 
Except for this section most of the remainder of the Old Barracks is 
original. Interior walls are plastered and the floors are of random 
width wide oak boards.

The L-shaped southern section of the barracks, used from 1855 to 1899 
as a home for elderly women, was somewhat altered by the insertion of 
partition walls to create smaller rooms. Most of these walls have 
been left in place in the south arm and these rooms are furnished 
with colonial period furniture. In the long arm, the later partition 
walls have been removed to recreate the original long barracks rooms. 
Here rooms complete with tables, bunks, military equipment and uniforms 
used by 18th century soldiers, have been restored. The north arm 
is used as a museum and contains exhibits relating to the Battle of 
Trenton as well as to local history. There is also an interpretive 
room with audiovisual devices that interpret the Battle of Trenton.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Old Barracks (Trenton Barracks), erected in 1758-59, is the 
only major structure still standing that is associated with the 
Battle of Trenton, December 26, 1776. Hessian troops were 
quartered in this building on Christmas night 1776, when Washington 
crossed the Delaware and in a brilliant attack the following 
morning surprised and captured the 1,000-man German garrison of 
Trenton. The Trenton battlefield, which now lies in the downtown 
heart of modern Trenton, except for the Old Barracks, is otherwise 
completely built over and altered.

History

The Old Barracks (then known as Trenton Barracks), begun on May 31, 
1758, and completed in March 1759, was erected by the New Jersey 
General Assembly to provide winter quarters for 300 British troops 
during the French and Indian War. The Trenton Barracks was one 
of five similar structures built at Burlington, Elizabethtown, 
Perth Amboy, and New Brunswick to avoid the necessity of forcibly 
billeting British troops on New Jersey private householders. The 
other four barracks no longer stand. Constructed of native undressed 
stone, the U-shaped Trenton Barracks was two-and-one-half stories 
high and had a narrow two-story balcony running the length of its 
inner side. The first troops, the Inniskilling Regiment of Foot, 
occupied the building in December 1758. Soldiers and officers 
continued to use the barracks during the winter months until the 
close of the war, May 1763 when British soldiers were no longer 
needed in the colony. The economy-minded Assembly then ordered the 
barrack-master to sell the furnishings and rent the building.

The outbreak of the War for Independence brought the Trenton 
Barracks back to its original purpose. It was occupied by British, 
German, and American soldiers at various times, depending on who 
had control of New Jersey and the village of Trenton, then a small 
town of about 100 houses. The Battle of Trenton was fought around 
and near the Trenton Barracks, then serving as quarters for 300 
Hessian soldiers, in the early morning hours of December 26, 1776. 
At a cost of four Americans wounded, Washington captured six cannons,
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New Jersey, A Guide to Its Past -and Present (American Guide Seriesl fNew York
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8. Significance (continued)

took 948 Hessians prisoner, and 22 more Germans were killed in the 
battle fought in a heavy snow storm. Lord George Germain, Colonial 
Secretary of State for King George III, wrote "all our hopes were 
blasted by that unhappy affair at Trenton." The Barracks was later 
used as a hospital for sick American soldiers; 600 were brought here 
after the Siege of Yorktown, in November 1781.

With the end of active military operations, the Legislature, in June 
1782, directed that the Trenton Barracks be sold. A public sale in 
January 1786 brought t 3,260 for the structure, slightly more than the 
original cost of construction. The building was then subdivided for 
use as a number of small private dwellings. In 1813, 40 feet of the 
north end of the central arm of the U-shaped barracks was demolished 
to allow the western extension of Front Street to the State House. In 
1855 the southern L-shaped section of the barracks was purchased, 
adapted, and utilized from 1855 until 1899 as a home for elderly women.

In 1899 the Captain Jonathan Oliphant Chapter of the Daughters of the 
American Revolution raised $6,134 by public subscription and purchased 
the southern L-shaped portion of the Trenton Barracks, thereby saving 
this section from demolition. In 1902 this same group formed the 
Old Barracks Association to preserve and restore the barracks. The 
State of New Jersey purchased the original northern arm of the barracks, 
then occupied by private dwellings, for $10,800, and the City of Trenton 
agreed to close the western extension of Front Street between the two 
original sections of the building. The Old Barracks Association then 
deeded its soutoiteh wing to the State of New Jersey, with the 
stipulation that w\ien the Old Barracks was restored to its original 
condition control and management of the entire building would forever 
remain with the Association. The reconstruction of the missing 40-foot 
section of the central arm and restoration of the remainder of the 
original portions were completed in 1917; Old Barracks has been open 
to visitors as a museum since that year.
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